IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

		Ø·	17
		ap	p tog
F		E	D
		WHITE	
/	MAY 2	4 1996	
CLER# By	(, RUPR	eme CC	URT
	Chief Depi	wy (Nork	

STATE OF FLORIDA,)
Petitioner,)
vs.)
CECIL SKYLES,)
Respondent.)

Case No. 87,640

ON APPEAL FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

WILLIAM A. SPILLIAS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLA. BAR NO. 909769 1655 PALM BEACH LAKES BLVD. SUITE 300 WEST PALM BEACH, FL. 33409 (407) 688-7759

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, the State of Florida, was the appellee in the Fourth District Court of Appeal, and will be referred to herein as "Petitioner" or "the State." Respondent, Cecil Skyles, was the appellant in the Fourth District Court of Appeal, and will be referred to herein as "Respondent.".

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent was charged by indictment with two counts of sexual battery on a person younger than twelve years of age (R. 1-2). Respondent filed a motion to suppress his taped statement, alleging that it was unlawfully obtained due to the fact that his right to remain silent and to terminate further questioning had not been scrupulously honored (R. 48-54, 67-69). The trial court denied Respondent's motion (R. 70). Respondent renewed his motion before the taped statement was introduced at trial (T. 294, 317). The jury thereafter returned guilty verdicts on each count, and Respondent was adjudged guilty and sentenced to concurrent terms of 8 years' imprisonment to be followed by 5 years' probation (R. 110-125).

On appeal to the Fourth District Court of Appeal, Respondent argued, <u>inter alia</u>, that the trial court erred in denying his motion to suppress and in admitting his confession. In reversing on that issue, the Fourth District explained and held as follows:

Skyles, who was 14, was accused of molesting two boys who were 7 at the time. After Skyles became a suspect, he agreed to come to the police station with his mother, and, after receiving his Miranda rights, was questioned. He repeatedly denied any wrongdoing, and at one point said "I'm through man, that's all I'm saying." The officer interrogated him further, during which Skyles continued to deny the allegations and concluded by stating "That's all I have to say is (sic) cause that's all I know."

The tape recorder was then turned off for a period of time after which, back on the tape, Skyles confessed on the tape to having anally assaulted both of the boys after they had pulled their pants down.

In <u>Owen v. State</u>, 560 So. 2d 207, 211 (Fla. 1990), the Florida Supreme Court concluded that a confession was erroneously admitted because the defendant said things like "I don't want to talk about it" in response to questions about the crime, stating:

The responses were, at the least, an equivocal invocation of the Miranda right to terminate questioning, which could only be clarified. It was error for the police to urge appellant to continue his questioning.

After <u>Owen</u> the United States Supreme Court clarified <u>Miranda v.</u> <u>Arizona</u>, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S. Ct. 1602, 16 L. Ed. 2d 694 (1966), and held that officers are not obligated to stop questioning a suspect unless the suspect makes "an unambiguous or unequivocal request for counsel." <u>Davis v. U.S.</u> U.S. ____, 114 S. Ct. 2350, 2356, 129 L. Ed. 2d 362 (1994). <u>Davis</u> was decided before the defendant in <u>Owen</u> was retried, and the state sought certiorari in this court, arguing that under <u>Davis</u> Owen's confession would now be admissible. Although we are bound by the supreme court's decision in <u>Owen</u> and thus denied certiorari, we certified the following question as one of great public importance:

> DO THE PRINCIPLES ANNOUNCED BY THE UNITED STATES SUPREME COURT IN <u>DAVIS</u> APPLY TO THE ADMISSIBILITY OF CONFESSIONS IN FLORIDA, IN LIGHT OF <u>TRAYLOR[]</u>?

<u>State v. Owen</u>, 654 So. 2d 200, 202 (Fla. 4th DCA), <u>rev. granted</u>, 662 So. 2d 933 (1995).

We conclude that under <u>Owen I</u> this confession should not have been admitted, and therefore reverse for a new trial, but certify the same question of great public importance as we did in <u>Owen II</u>. We reject the state's argument that <u>Owen I</u> is inapplicable because Skyles was not in custody. <u>See Martin v. State</u>, 557 So. 2d 622 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990), and cases cited therein (the fact that there has not been a formal arrest does not necessarily mean suspect is not in custody).

(footnote omitted). <u>Skyles v. State</u>, Case No. 95-0249 (Fla. 4th DCA March 20, 1996). In the instant brief, <u>Owen v. State</u>, 560 So. 2d 207 (Fla. 1990), will be referred to as "<u>Owen I</u>," and <u>State v. Owen</u>, 654 So. 2d 200 (Fla. 4th DCA), <u>rev. granted</u>, 662 So. 2d 933 (Fla. 1995), will be referred to as "<u>Owen II</u>."

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court should answer the certified question in the affirmative. <u>United States v. Davis</u>, 512 U.S. _____, 129 L.Ed.2d 362, 114 S.Ct. _____ (1994), should be applied in the instant case and in Florida generally. This Court's opinion in <u>Owen I</u> (and thus the Fourth District's opinion in the instant case, which relied solely upon <u>Owen I</u>) was predicated solely on an interpretation of a federal rule. Reversal was not predicated upon a violation of either the state or federal constitutions. <u>Davis</u> illustrates that this Court's interpretation of that federal rule in <u>Owen I</u> (and thus the Fourth District's interpretation of said rule in the instant case) was erroneous. Consequently this Court should apply United States Supreme Court's interpretation/limitation of its own rules.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE ON APPEAL

WHETHER THE PRINCIPLES ANNOUNCED IN <u>DAVIS</u> APPLY TO THE ADMISSIBILITY OF CONFESSIONS IN FLORIDA, IN LIGHT OF <u>TRAYLOR</u>; THIS COURT SHOULD ANSWER THE CERTIFIED QUESTION IN THE AFFIRMATIVE.

In <u>Owen I</u>, Owen argued that his confession was inadmissible because (1) it was the result of psychological coercion, and (2) it violated the technical requirements of <u>Miranda v. Arizona</u>, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S.Ct. 1602, 16 L.Ed.2d 694 (1966). <u>Owen v. State</u>, 560 So.2d 207, 210 (Fla. 1990). This Court flatly rejected Owen's first argument, finding that the confession was voluntarily made. <u>Owen</u>, 560 So.2d at 210. On the second point, this Court agreed, finding a technical violation of <u>Miranda</u>. <u>Id</u>. at 211. Since this Court could not conclude that suppression of his confession was harmless error, Owen's conviction was vacated. <u>Id</u>.

During the pendency of Owen's retrial, the United States Supreme Court issued its opinion in <u>United States v. Davis</u>, 512 U.S. _____, 114 S. Ct. 2350, 129 L. Ed. 2d 362 (1994). In <u>Davis</u>, the Court determined that an equivocal request for an attorney in reference to <u>Miranda</u> warnings does not require the cessation of an iterrogation. Ambiguous statements from a defendant do not require the police to limit all further questioning to an inquiry regarding the meaning of the equivocal response. The Court refused to expand the rule of <u>Edwards v. Arizona</u>, 451 U.S. 477, 101 S. Ct. 1880, 68 L. Ed. 2d 378 (1981).

On July 25, 1994, in light of <u>Davis</u>, the State of Florida filed a motion in the trial court to admit Owen's statement at the retrial. Relief was denied on September 27, 1994. The State sought certiorari review in the Fourth District Court of Appeal. The district court determined as follows:

5

If we were certain that <u>Davis</u> was the law in Florida, and if this specific confession had not already been held inadmissible by the Florida Supreme Court, we would grant certiorari, because the pretrial refusal to admit this confession would be a departure from the essential requirements of the law for which the state would have no adequate remedy by review. <u>State v. Pettis</u>, 520 So. 2d 250 (Fla. 1988).

<u>State v. Owen</u>, 654 So. 2d 200, 201 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995). Given the district's court's uncertainty regarding the application of <u>Davis</u> in Florida in light of <u>Traylor v. State</u>, 596 So. 2d (Fla. 1992), the court certified the following question:

DO THE PRINCIPLES ANNOUNCED IN <u>DAVIS</u> APPLY TO THE ADMISSIBILITY OF CONFESSIONS IN FLORIDA, IN LIGHT OF <u>TRAYLOR</u>?

<u>Owen</u>, 654 So. 2d at 202. Likewise, in the instant case, the Fourth District certified the same question to this Court. For the following reasons, the State submits that the certified question should be answered in the affirmative.

A. Whether <u>United States v. Davis</u> should apply in Florida does not involve a consideration of <u>Traylor v. State</u>.

Before the Fourth District in <u>Owen II</u>, Owen relied on <u>Haliburton v. State</u>, 514 So. 2d 1088 (Fla. 1987) (hereinafter <u>Haliburton II</u>), and <u>Traylor v. State</u>, 596 So. 2d 957 (Fla. 1992), to support his contention that <u>Davis</u> should not be applied in his case or in Florida law in general. In <u>Haliburton v. State</u>, 476 So. 2d 194 (Fla. 1985), (hereinafter <u>Haliburton I</u>), this Court ruled that the confession was <u>involuntary</u>, as it was not the result of a knowing and intelligent waiver. On remand from the United States Supreme Court, this Court again found the confession to be <u>involuntary</u>, based on state

law. <u>Haliburton II.¹</u> In <u>Traylor</u>, after analyzing the <u>voluntariness</u> of Traylor's confession, this Court affirmed its admissibility. There is a fundamental distinction between Owen's case (and thus the instant Petitioner's case) and <u>Haliburton/Traylor</u>. In <u>Haliburton II</u> and <u>Traylor</u>, this Court analyzed the <u>voluntariness</u> of the confession under the state constitution. In <u>Owen I</u>, on the other hand, this Court found Owen's confession voluntary but found the confession inadmissible because of a technical violation of <u>Miranda</u>:

It is clear that from these tapes that the sessions were initiated by Owen, who was repeatedly advised of his rights to counsel and to remain silent. Moreover, he acknowledged on the tapes that he was completely familiar with his <u>Miranda</u> rights and knew them as well as the police officers. It is also clear that the sessions, which encompassed six days, were not individually lengthy and that Owen was given refreshments, food, and breaks during the sessions. The tapes show that the confession was <u>entirely voluntary</u> under the fifth amendment and that no improper coercion was employed.

Owen next argues that even if the confession was voluntary under the fifth amendment, it was nevertheless obtained in violation of the procedural rules of <u>Miranda</u>. On this point, we agree.

Owen, 560 So. 2d at 210. (emphasis added; citations omitted).

Miranda, of course, established a federal procedural <u>rule</u> based on federal law. <u>Miranda</u> warnings themselves are not constitutionally mandated, but are prophylactic measures to ensure against compulsory incrimination. Thus, a violation of <u>Miranda</u> is not a constitutional violation. <u>Brown v. State</u>, 565 So. 2d 304, 306 (Fla. 1990) (citing <u>Duckworth v. Eagan</u>, 492 U.S. 195, 109 S. Ct. 2875, 106 L. Ed. 2d 166 (1989), and <u>Michigan v. Tucker</u>, 417 U.S. 433, 444, 94 S. Ct. 2357, 41

¹This court was clearly troubled by the officer's initial refusal to obey then Judge Barkett's telephone order. Both <u>Haliburton I</u> and <u>II</u> cite to <u>Jamason v. State</u>, 455 So. 2d 380 (Fla. 1984) (willful refusal by police to obey telephonic court order constitutes criminal contempt).

L. Ed. 2d 182 (1974) (<u>Miranda</u> warnings designed to deter police coercion and are not protected by the Constitution)). Consequently, any analysis of the admissibility of Petitioner's confession should not entail a discussion of either state or federal constitutional law. Since <u>Traylor</u> and <u>Haliburton II</u> concern only the violation of a constitutional right against self incrimination, neither of those cases should be included in any analysis regarding the continuing validity of this Court's holding in <u>Owen</u> I, in light of <u>Davis</u>.

This Court has recognized and applied that same distinction. In <u>Haliburton I</u>, the state relied upon <u>State v. Craig</u>, 237 So. 2d 737 (Fla. 1970), which had come before this Court for review on conflict certiorari from the Fourth District Court of Appeal. In <u>Craig</u>, the district court ruled the defendant's confession inadmissible because the pre-interrogation warnings did not inform the defendant that he had the right to have an attorney present <u>during the interrogation</u>. <u>Craig v. State</u>, 216 So. 2d 19, 20 (Fla. 4th DCA 1968). The district court also concluded that the defendant's statements during the interrogation were sufficient to invoke his right to an attorney. <u>Id</u>. The facts also indicate that the defendant's family had secured for him the services of an attorney. <u>Craig</u>, 237 So. 2d at 739. Regardless, this Court found that the district court's suppression of the confession was in error. In reversing Haliburton's conviction, however, this Court distinguished <u>Craig</u>:

The state argues that we should find appellant's waiver valid under our decision in <u>State v. Craig</u>, (citation omitted from the original). We are unpersuaded, however, as the issues before us in <u>Craig</u> were the adequacy of the preinterrogation warnings to inform the defendant of his right to consult with an attorney and have the attorney with him during interrogation and <u>the manner</u> in which the defendant expressed his desire to waive counsel.

Haliburton I, 476 So. 2d at 194 (emphasis added).

The issue in the instant case is thus akin to the issue in Craig, i.e., the manner in which a

defendant invokes his right to remain silent. As recognized by this Court in <u>Owen I</u>, as well as in <u>Craig</u>, the issue of voluntariness is separate from the issue regarding the propriety of <u>Miranda</u> warnings and the sufficiency of any subsequent invocation or waiver of a right to remain silent. <u>Owen</u>, 560 So. 2d at 210. Therefore, the instant issue must likewise be considered and analyzed the same way.

As previously noted, <u>Haliburton II</u> and <u>Traylor</u> are premised on constitutional law, whereas <u>Owen I</u> and the instant case are premised on a federal rule of procedure. To further illustrate this point, one need only to review the cases relied upon by this Court in ruling Owen's confession inadmissible in <u>Owen I</u>. This Court relied primarily upon <u>Long v. State</u>, 517 So. 2d 664 (Fla. 1987), <u>cert. denied</u>, 486 U.S. 1017 (1988), and cases cited therein. In those referenced cases,² this Court determined, <u>relying solely on federal authority</u>, that equivocal responses required limited questioning designed to clarify the statements. Thus, in analyzing the admissibility of Owen's confession, this Court relied upon previous interpretations of a federal rule, namely <u>Edwards</u>. Because of its previous interpretation of <u>Edwards</u>, this Court felt compelled to apply <u>Long</u> to find Owen's confession inadmissible even though it believed Owen's confession was voluntary.

In <u>Long</u>, this Court determined that <u>Edwards</u> mandated the cessation of all questioning after an equivocal statement is made by a defendant. Any further communication must be limited to clarifying the meaning of the equivocal response:

> The record is clear, however, that the investigating officer did not attempt to clarify the <u>equivocal request</u> for counsel, but continued to interrogate Long to obtain the eventual confession. We are bound by the United States Supreme Court decisions

²Cannady v. State, 427 So. 2d 723, 728 (Fla. 1983); <u>Valle v. State</u>, 474 So. 2d 796 (Fla. 1985), <u>vacated on other grounds</u>, 476 U.S. 1102, 106 S. Ct. 1943, 90 L. Ed. 2d 353 (1986); <u>Waterhouse v. State</u>, 429 So. 2d 301, 305 (Fla. 1983).

in <u>Miranda, Edwards, and Rhode Island v. Innis</u>, 446 U.S. 291 (1990), which we conclude mandate suppression of Long's confession. Without this equivocal request for counsel we would find this confession voluntary and admissible. <u>Miranda and Edwards</u>, however, establish a bright line test that controls this case and requires suppression of the confession.

Long, 517 So. 2d at 667 (emphasis added). See also Martin v. Wainwright, 770 F. 2d 918, 923 (11th Cir. 1985) (voluntary confession held inadmissible based on defendant's equivocal response, "can't we wait until tomorrow"). Now that <u>Davis</u> has settled the conflict involving the interpretation of <u>Edwards</u>, this Court should adopt the <u>Davis</u> analysis.

The Fourth District in <u>Owen II</u> expressed concern about application of <u>Davis</u> because of the emphasis in <u>Traylor</u> on the primacy doctrine. <u>Traylor</u>, however, did not establish the concept of primacy of the state constitution; it merely reaffirmed it. In fact in <u>Haliburton II</u>, the United States Supreme Court remanded for reconsideration in light of <u>Moran v. Burbine</u>, 475 U.S. 412, 106 S.Ct. 1135, 89 L. Ed. 2d 410 (1984). This Court decided to affirm its holding based on the state's constitution. However, this Court's refusal to apply federal law on the question of voluntariness in <u>Haliburton II</u> was consistent with precedent long before <u>Traylor</u> and long before <u>Owen I. See, e.g.</u>, <u>Simon v. State</u>, 5 Fla. 285, 296 (1853); <u>Nickles v. State</u>, 90 Fla. 659, 667, 106 So. 479, 483 (1925). Whether new or old is of no moment, as the primacy doctrine is inapplicable to the instant case. The issue in <u>Haliburton II</u> and <u>Traylor</u> are premised on constitutional law, as opposed to a federal rule of procedure, they do not apply to the admissibility of the confession in the instant case.

³The issue of voluntariness as expressed by this Court in <u>Haliburton I</u> and <u>II</u> is not the concern in the instant case. <u>Compare Walls v. State</u>, 580 So. 2d 131, 133 (Fla. 1991) (subterfuge and deception by government agents violated <u>Haliburton</u> and Art. I, Sec. 9 of the Florida Constitution).

B. United States v. Davis should apply in Florida and in the instant case.

As noted above, this Court felt compelled in Long to hold that equivocal responses required that any further questioning be limited to a clarification of the response. See also Thompson v. State, 548 So. 2d 193, 203 (Fla. 1989) (when a defendant makes an equivocal request, Miranda and Edwards require that police continue questioning for the sole purpose of clarifying the request and nothing more). On June 24, 1994, the United States Supreme Court rendered its decision in Davis. The Court determined that an equivocal request in reference to Miranda warnings does not render a confession inadmissible:

[W]e decline to adopt a rule requiring officers to ask clarifying questions. If the suspect's statement is not an unambiguous or unequivocal request for counsel, the officers have no obligation to stop questioning him.

To recapitulate: We held in <u>Miranda</u> that a suspect is entitled to the assistance of counsel during custodial interrogation even though the Constitution does not provide for such assistance. We held in <u>Edwards</u> that if a suspect invokes the right to counsel at anytime, the police must immediately cease questioning him until an attorney is present. But we are unwilling to create a third layer of prophylaxis to prevent police questioning when a suspect <u>might</u> want a lawyer. Unless the suspect actually requests an attorney, questioning may continue.

<u>Davis</u>, 129 L. Ed. 2d at 373. The Court noted that lower courts have developed conflicting standards for determining consequences of equivocal requests. <u>Smith v. Illinois</u>, 469 U.S. 91, 95 n.3, 83 L. Ed. 2d 488, 105 S.t. 490 (1984). In light of <u>Davis</u>, those conflicts no longer exist. <u>Davis</u>, 129 L. Ed. 2d at 369.

A review and comparison of Florida and federal law generated in the area of "confession law" demonstrates that the policy considerations articulated in the caselaw are identical. This Court has recognized the tension and the competing interests between the value of confessions in fighting crime and the concern that such confessions will be obtained through coercion. <u>Traylor</u>, 596 So. 2d at 964. Those identical concerns exist in the federal arena as well. Moran, 475 U.S. at 426.

To protect against coercion, the United States Supreme Court crafted the following requirements:

Prior to any questioning, the person must be warned that he has a right to remain silent, that any statement he does make may be used as evidence against him, and that he has a right to an attorney, either retained or appointed. The defendant may waive effectuation of these rights, provided the waiver is made voluntarily, knowingly and intelligently. If, however, he indicates in any manner and at any stage of the process that he wishes to consult with an attorney before speaking there can be no questioning. Likewise, if the individual is alone and indicates in any manner that he does not wish to be interrogated, the police may not question him.

Miranda, 384 U.S. at 444-445. The United States Supreme Court decision in Edwards was designed to give force to the Miranda warnings. Minnick v. Mississippi, 498 U.S. 146, 111 S. Ct. 486, 112 L. Ed. 2d 489 (1990). Once an accused as invoked his right to counsel, questioning must cease until counsel has been made available. Reinterrogation is forbidden unless it is initiated by the accused.

Edwards, 451 U.S. at 484. The rule of Edwards has been described by the Court as follows:

The rule ensures that any statement made in a subsequent interrogation is not the result of coercive pressures. Edwards conserves judicial resources which would otherwise be expended in making difficult determinations of voluntariness, and implements the protections of <u>Miranda</u> in practical and straightforward terms.

The merit of the <u>Edwards</u> decision lies in the clarity of its command and the certainty in its application. We have confirmed that the <u>Edwards</u> rule provides 'clear and unequivocal'

guidelines to the law enforcement profession.

Minnick, 498 U.S. at 151.

This Court has chosen to adopt the identical rules without any modification:

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