IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

		E	D
	BID J. V	WHITE	
•	JUN 2	B 1996	!
CLERK	SUPRE	LASE CO	JURT
Эy <u> — с</u>	ifer Depu	e/ Ølerk	

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

Case No. 87,640

CECIL SKYLES,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

RICHARD L. JORANDBY Public Defender 15th Judicial Circuit of Florida

CHERRY GRANT Assistant Public Defender Attorney for Cecil Skyles Criminal Justice Building/6th Floor 421 3rd Street West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (407) 355-7600 Florida Bar No. 260509

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

Law suits are no longer a cat and mouse game to such an extent that a party will be denied an opportunity to have a jury determine the justice of his cause on such a minor technicality.

314 So. 2d at 14. In the same spirit, the first district held in <u>Kimmons v. State</u>, 178 So. 2d 608, 615 (Fla. 1st DCA 1965), that it was not error to allow the state to reopen its case against a defendant even after the defense had rested where the state's witness had not been located until a day or two before. Again the court noted that it is the duty of judges "to assure that the trials over which he presides are conducted in accordance with

the precepts of justice and fairness to all parties concerned, in order that truth and justice - the objects of our court system - may be attained." 178 So. 2d at 615. See also Pitts v. State, 185 So. 2d 164 (Fla. 1966) (not error to allow state to reopen case to clarify conflicting testimony between a state witness and the prosecutrix pertaining to identification of defendant in response to a jury question); Dees v. State, 357 So. 2d 491 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978) (no error to allow state to reopen after defendant's motion for judgment of acquittal to prove venue); Louisy v. State, 667 So. 2d 972 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996) (abuse of discretion to refuse to allow defendant to re-open case where counsel had forgotten to ask defendant about an area of inquiry which would have explained reason for victim's vaginal injuries.)

And of course, what is allowed by one side must be allowed by the other as well; a party may always invoke the discretion of the trial court to reopen or recall a witness where it can be done without injustice to the other party. <u>Buckingham v. Buckingham</u>, 492 So. 2d 858, 861 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986) (reversing refusal to reopen to present evidence on attorney's fees and costs); <u>Weary v. State</u>, 644 So. 2d 156 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994) (abuse of discretion and reversible to refuse to reopen for defense witness on a major point where no great inconvenience to parties); <u>Lambert v. State</u>, 626 So. 2d 340 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993) (reversible abuse of discretion to refuse to reopen for evidence on standing).

Because the courts favor a full airing of the merits of any case, a reversible abuse of discretion has been found in various circumstances where trial judges have refused to permit additional evidence. Moran v. State, 274 So. 2d 26 (Fla. 1st DCA 1973), cited by the district court in its opinion, is such a case. Mr. Moran was accused of having sexual relations with his 15 year old daughter. The state presented two witnesses, the 15 year old and a doctor who confirmed the child was "nonvirginal." The defense called the 13 year old sister Cindy. Cindy had previously said that on the morning after the

alleged incident her older sister had told her that while the father had attempted to have sex with her, she had refused and he had been unsuccessful. When Cindy was on the stand testifying she said she was unable to remember what had been said. After a recess and several more defense witnesses, counsel requested to recall Cindy, explaining to the court that Cindy had been frightened and nervous on the stand but that she now said she remembered the conversation with her sister which was exculpatory to the defendant. 274 So. 2d at 28. The trial court refused to allow the recall saying it would be nothing more than a rehash of previous testimony and that the defense should not be allowed to recall a witness after a recess and talking to the witness just because it were unhappy with her testimony. 274 So. 2d at 28-29. This ruling was found to be reversible error.

The record indicates that there were only two principal witnesses upon whose testimony an adjudication of guilt could stand or fall. The jury was faced with the decision to believe either the appellant or the alleged victim, and their decision would essentially dispose of the issue of guilt. Hence, it was vital that they hear any witness who might shed light upon the credibility of either of the principal witnesses.

* * *

...we conclude that the refusal to allow Cindy's testimony to be introduced was an abuse of discretion which was harmful to appellant and was therefore error.

274 So. 2d at 29. Likewise, in <u>Hogle v. Lowe's of Fla. Inc.</u>, 591 So. 2d 1095 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992), a new trial was ordered after the judge refused to allow the appellant to recall appellee's sales manager to cross-examine him about his inconsistent deposition statements regarding access to a cutting tool which was left in an aisle and on which the appellant tripped. "This was extremely important testimony, as the appellee's knowledge and control of the tool's location were crucial aspects of the appellee's case." 591 So. 2d at 1096. <u>See also Delgado v. State</u>, 573 So. 2d 83 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990) (abuse of discretion where request is made timely and jury will be deprived of evidence "which might have a significant impact upon the issues to be resolved.")

In the instant case there was no way for respondent to know that Chris made an inconsistent statement admitting the charges were a fabrication just one or two days before he testified until the person who heard the statement told respondent's attorney. Respondent's counsel could hardly be faulted for not being aware of a statement made by a state witness just a day before trial began. But even if he could, Akins, Pitts, Buckingham, Louisy and Hogle all demonstrate that an error by counsel, easily remedied by allowing recall or reopening, is not a sufficient reason to short-circuit the truth seeking process. Here, Chris's recent statement was not about some collateral detail, it obviously went to the heart of the allegations against respondent, i.e. might have a significant impact on the issues to be resolved. Delgado. Respondent's counsel immediately notified the judge and prosecutor, making clear his desire to recall Chris and question him about the statement; his request to recall Chris was timely. See <u>Delgado</u>. At that point no other witnesses had even testified and there was absolutely no reason not to allow Chris, who was a local witness, to be recalled and questioned on the statement. <u>See Weary</u>. The district court agreed and found the ruling to have been error but then found the error harmless.

The state argued the testimony was cumulative because on one previous occasion two years before Chris had denied this incident took place.⁴ But that does not make a different incident cumulative. During its examination of Chris the state asked,

- Q. (Other than the claim that respondent threw a knife at the boys) Did you make up any other part of what happened?
- A. No.
- Q. What you just told me a minute ago about what

⁴ The district court's opinion states the jury knew that "more than once" Chris denied the assault occurred. Although Chris did indeed deny the assault on more than one occasion, the jury only heard about a single denial (T 229-230, 237).

happened, did you make any of that up?

A. No.

(T 226). By keeping out Chris's inconsistent statement to the contrary, made closest to his testimony, the state set up its closing argument wherein it explained away Chris's initial denial by saying he was embarrassed or afraid he would be in trouble (T 515, 519). Though that explanation would seem entirely reasonable and might well persuade a jury who only heard about an initial denial of the incident, the explanation rings rather hollow in light of Chris's later statement that the whole thing, not just the knife incident, was made up. The whole theory behind the admissibility of inconsistent statements is that they tend to call into question a witness's credibility. Certainly a witness who admits to having lied about one factor, the knife, is rendered further unbelievable when he makes a statement not two days before he testifies that the entire incident is a fabrication.

Further, the excluded evidence was not cumulative because Chris' admission that the charges against respondent were fabricated is the <u>only such admission</u>. For a witness to admit he, (or in this case, Troy,) made the whole thing up is far different from initially denying something occurred, which, as noted, the state explained away as embarrassment or shyness, and is also far different from merely admitting that the claim of a knife was a fabrication, which the state also explained away as the boys being angry at respondent.⁵ Far from being cumulative, the recently discovered admission that the alleged crime was a total fiction puts Chris's earlier statements in a completely different light; that admission is exactly the type of evidence which would surely play a substantial part in a jury's deliberations. Finally, the impeachment evidence demonstrates that the

⁵ The state's argument further suggested the fact Chris admitted he lied about the knife made him a more credible witness (T 515).

difficulty Chris had in making the accusation at trial was not because it happened and Chris did not want to talk about it, but because it never happened and Chris was just going along with a story made up by his friend Troy. Troy first made the accusation, not to his own father but to Chris's stepfather. In making the original accusation he had only accused respondent of molesting Chris. Chris's stepfather, to whom Chris was close, talked to Chris about the allegation and Chris flatly denied it had ever occurred. The stepfather gave it no more thought because he knew Troy to be unreliable and because the incident as related could not have occurred. Nothing else happened for a year and a half. Then Troy's father read Troy a newspaper report about a man who had molested some children at Wabasso School. A few days later Troy made the claim that he and Chris had been molested by respondent at Wabasso School. Troy then went to Chris's stepfather to brag that respondent was going to jail. Chris again denied the accusation⁶ against respondent and it was only after Troy called his friend a liar and insisted that Chris finally went along with the claim. The stepfather felt Chris "admitted" the allegation under duress. Troy then made up the claim that respondent had a knife, even inventing a description for the knife, and got Chris to go along with the claim. Although Chris stuck to the knife story and repeated it for the police, the doctor, and his parents, after several months he finally went to his mother and told her it was not true. Several months later the case went to trial. If only a day or two before trial Chris volunteered that the offense never happened at all, it was vital that the jury hear that testimony. Like the testimony offered in Moran, the proposed testimony here might shed light on the credibility of one of respondent's accusers and on the question of whether the offense ever occurred.

⁶ This second denial was not made clear to the jury; it had been explored in a pretrial hearing.

Contrary to the district court's conclusion, the refusal to allow Chris to be recalled was not harmless. There were basically three areas of evidence in this case: the boys' statements, respondent's statement, and the physical evidence, namely the ½ centimeter scar on Chris's rectum. Each of the areas was challenged. Two friends, one with a motive to lie, reported a crime two years after it allegedly occurred. In repeating the allegation to the police and doctor, they added details about a knife later proven to be false. One of the two had a small scar, the age of which could not be determined, which was consistent with the claim but not inconsistent with other causes. corroboration existed. One or two days before he testified, one boy said the two made the whole thing up. After repeatedly denying the offense, respondent "confessed." He testified he made his statement only after being told he could not go home until he admitted he committed the offense, and his two attempts to terminate his interrogation were in fact ignored. Respondent repudiated his "confession" under oath at trial. Thus, the case came down to respondent's word against that of the two boys plus the inconclusive scar. The state's closing argument to the jury was focused on convincing the jury to believe the two boys.

Although the district court cited <u>State v. DiGuilio</u>, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986), in finding the error harmless, the decision's emphasis on evidence admitted, rather than the effect of evidence excluded, demonstrates precisely the kind of flawed argument warned against in <u>DiGuilio</u>, which cautions that the function of an appellate court on review is not simply to examine the permissible evidence, exclude the impermissible evidence, and determine that the evidence of guilt is overwhelming.

...harmless error analysis must not become a device whereby the appellate court substitutes itself for the jury, examines the permissible evidence, excludes the impermissible evidence, and determines that the evidence of guilt is sufficient or even overwhelming based on the permissible evidence. In a pertinent passage, Chief Justice Traynor points out:

Overwhelming evidence of guilt does not negate the fact that an error that constituted a substantial part of the prosecution's case may have played a substantial part in the jury's deliberation and thus contributed to the actual verdict reached, for the jury may have reached its verdict because of the error without considering other reasons untainted by error that would have supported the same result. (citation omitted).

491 So. 2d at 1136 (emphasis added). This caveat, even overwhelming evidence of guilt does not negate the fact that the error may have played a substantial part in the jury's deliberations, dates back at least to <u>Drake v. State</u>, 441 So. 2d 1079 (Fla. 1983), when this Court admonished that if there is any reasonable possibility that the error may have contributed to the defendant's conviction, it may not be held harmless beyond a reasonable doubt -- even if there is overwhelming evidence of guilt. The Second District Court of Appeal has phrased the test in perhaps less metaphysical terms by suggesting that error is not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt if the appellate court cannot say that an acquittal was not reasonably within the realm of possibility. Singletary v. State, 483 So. 2d 8 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985). Indeed, in DiGuilio the district court had already found the error harmless, but this Court disagreed, stressing again the rigorous nature of the test. 491 So. 2d at 1137. "...the state, as beneficiary of the error, (must) prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict or, alternatively stated, that there is no reasonable possibility that the error contributed to the conviction." 491 So. 2d at 1138. See also Sullivan v. Louisiana, 508 U.S., 113 S. Ct. 2078, 2081-2082 (1993), wherein Justice Scalia writes:

Consistent with the jury-trial guarantee, the question it instructs the reviewing court to consider is not what effect the constitutional error might generally be expected to have upon a reasonable jury, but rather what effect it had upon the guilty verdict in the case at hand. (Citation omitted). Harmless error review looks, we have said, to the basis on which "the jury actually rested its verdict." (Citation omitted). The inquiry, in other words, is not whether, in a trial that occurred without the error, a guilty verdict would surely have been rendered, but whether the guilty verdict actually rendered

in this trial was surely unattributable to the error. That must be so, because to hypothesize a guilty verdict that was never in fact rendered --no matter how inescapable the findings to support that verdict might be--would violate the jury trial guarantee.

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